Myocardial creatine metabolism in experimental infarction and heart failure

Malin Lindbom



Department of Molecular and Clinical Medicine/Cardiology Wallenberg Laboratory for Cardiovascular research Sahlgrenska Academy Göteborgs Universitet 2007

ISBN 978-91-628-7317-2

Abstract

The failing heart is characterized by changes in its structure, function and metabolism. An important part of this negative remodelling process is disturbed myocardial energy metabolism. The failing myocardium contains low levels of creatine (Cr), phosphocreatine (PCr), adenosine-triphosphate (ATP) and accumulates intracellular lipids. Cr depletion in the heart muscle may result in disturbed energy production, transfer and utilisation of chemical energy and therefore compromised left ventricular function. The heart depends on exogenous lipids for the oxidative production of ATP but it also synthesizes and releases lipids in the form of apolipoprotein-B containing lipoproteins (apoB). It has been proposed that apoB may be involved in cardioprotection by means of elimination of toxic intracellular lipids.

The aims of this thesis were:

- To investigate whether measures of intensive cardiac care applied to rats with acute myocardial infarction would reduce mortality in this small animal model.
- To investigate *in vivo* the effects of Cr depletion in rats on left ventricular function and morphology, energy metabolism, catecholamines and incidence of malignant ventricular arrhythmias during acute myocardial infarction.
- To investigate *in vivo* the effects of Cr depletion in mice on left ventricular function and morphology, energy metabolism and myocardial lipids.
- To investigate importance of endogenous lipoproteins in the heart for cardiac function, morphology and survival in the settings of acute and chronic myocardial infarction.
- To investigate acute and chronic effects of complete heart block on cardiac function, morphology and energy metabolism in a rat model.

Using small animal models (rat and mouse) of chemically-induced Cr depletion we show *in vivo* that myocardial creatine depletion leads to disturbed energy metabolism, left ventricular dysfunction, pathologic remodeling and accumulation of intracellular triglycerides. These alterations are reversible upon the normalization of the creatine levels suggesting that creatine metabolism may be an important target for future pharmacological interventions. We provide experimental evidence that the biochemically remodeled heart is prone to malignant ventricular arrhythmias and to rapid progression to acute heart failure when subjected to myocardial infarction.

Using transgenic animals we show that myocardial apoB is an important cardioprotective system. This biochemical system is activated during ischemia, pathologic remodeling and heart failure and may be important for survival in myocardial infarction and heart failure.

Using a rat model of complete heart block we demonstrate that long-term bradycardia leads to development of pronounced eccentric hypertrophy with preserved energy metabolism and no signs of heart failure – a possible model for future studies of mechanisms behind the beneficial cardiac remodeling.

List of abbreviations

2, 3-DPG	2, 3-diphosphoglycerate
³¹ P	Phosphorous
apoB	apolipoprotein B
ADP	adenosine-triphosphate
AGAT	L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase
AMP	adenoseine-diphosphate
ATP	adenosine-triphosphate
BGP	beta-guanidino proprionic acid
CHB	complete heart block
CHF	congestive heart failure
СК	creatine kinase
CO	cardiac output
Cr	creatine
CrT	creatine transporter
FFA	free fatty acids
FS	fractional shortening
GAA	guanidinoacetate
GAMT	S-adenosyl-L-methionine: N-guanidinoacetate
HEP	high energy phosphometabolites
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
ISIS	image selected in vivo spectroscopy
LV	left ventricle
LVDd	left ventricular diameter in diastole
LVDs	left ventricular diameter in systole
LVM	left ventricular mass
LVM/BW	left ventricular mass index
MI	myocardial infarction
MRS	magenetic resonance spectroscopy
MTP	microsomal transfer protein
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
PCr	phosphocreatine
PDE	phosphodiesters
Pi	inorganic phosphate
SV	stroke volume

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following papers:

I

Råmunddal T, Lorentzon M, Omerovic E. Decreased mortality in a rat model of acute postinfarction heart failure. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2006; 341(2):459-63

Π

Lorentzon M., Råmunddal T., Bollano E., Soussi B., Waagstein F., Omerovic E., In vivo Effects of Myocardial Creatine Depletion on Left Ventricular Function, Morphology and Energy Metabolism – Consequences in Acute Myocardial Infarction. J Card Fail. 2007; 13(3):230-7.

III

Lorentzon M., Råmunddal T., Camejo G., Waagstein F., Omerovic E. In vivo effects of myocardial creatine depletion on left ventricular function, morphology and energy metabolism in mice (Submitted)

V

Råmunddal T, Lindbom M, Stillemark-Bilton P., Scharin-Täng M, Boren J, Omerovic E. *Overexpression of apolipoprotein-B improves cardiac function and increases survival in mice with myocardial infarction. (Submitted)*

IV

Gizurarson S., Lorentzon M., Råmunddal T. Waagstein F., Bergfeldt L., Omerovic E. *Effects of complete heart block on myocardial function, morphology and energy metabolism in rats. Europace. 2007; 9(6): 411-6.*

Table of Contents

Abstract
List of abbreviations
List of publications
Introduction
The syndrome of heart failure8
Cardiac remodeling8
Myocardial energy metabolism9
Creatine and creatine transporter11
Myocardial energy metabolism in the failing heart12
Lipotoxicity in myocardial infarction and heart failure - importance of endogenous
lipoproteins for cardiac function, structure and arrhythmias13
Aims of the study
Methodological considerations
Myocardial injury models
Induction of myocardial infarction (papers I, II, IV)16
Ischemia-reperfusion injury (paper IV)17
In vivo ³¹ P MRS (paper II)17
Echocardiography (papers II, III, IV, V)18
Biochemical analysis of creatine and adenine nucleotides (paper II, III, IV)
Summary of the results
Paper I
Paper II
Paper III
Paper IV22
Paper V23
Discussion
Paper I
Paper II24
Paper III
Paper IV27

Paper V	29
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
References	

Introduction

The syndrome of heart failure

Myocardial infarction (MI) and congestive heart failure (CHF) are the two leading causes of morbidity and mortality in Sweden. In spite of the therapeutical success during recent years with new drugs and devices the prognosis for patients with MI and CHF remains poor¹⁻³. Almost half of all patients hospitalized for the first time with CHF will die within 5 years – a survival rate far worse than for most types of cancer. Patients living with CHF endure a worse quality of life than those with most other chronic diseases. CHF also imposes a heavy burden on health care resources, mainly because of the high costs of hospitalization. Sudden cardiac death is the most common cause of death in CHF patients and survivors of MI. Over the past decade, the rate of hospitalizations for CHF has almost doubled⁴. The prevalence of CHF is expected to double in the next decade mainly as a consequence of ageing population and increased survival in acute MI due to improved therapeutic interventions for patients with CHF becomes obvious.

There are various definitions of congestive heart failure (CHF). Probably the most used definition of CHF is the one defined by Eugene Braunwald. According to the definition, CHF is a pathophysiological condition where the heart is unable to pump sufficient amounts of blood to satisfy the metabolic needs of the tissues and organs of the body.⁸ CHF is a complex syndrome and may be elicited by various pathophysiological mechanisms such as ischemic heart disease, hypertension, valve disease, myocarditis, autoimmunity, toxins, different cardiomyopathies and others.

Cardiac remodeling

As heart disease progresses towards CHF, the myocardium undergoes profound alterations in its structure and function at several levels. As the size of the organ increases and function deteriorates, there is gradual transformation from a compensated to a decompensated condition during which clinical symptoms of CHF become visible (dyspnea, peripheral edema, increased heart rate, decrease in physical activity etc.). The complex process responsible for this gradual deterioration leading to development of mechanical (pump failure) and electrophysiological dysfunction (arrhythmias) is called pathologic cardiac remodeling. It can be defined as the sum of all changes at molecular, cellular and at organ level which manifests as change in size, shape and function of the heart. The cardiac cell that is most affected by cardiac remodeling is the myocyte although other cells are affected as well i.e. fibroblast end endothelial cells⁹.

Pathologic cardiac remodeling is a consequence of different types of heart disease or injuries. The process that is of greatest interest for this thesis is remodeling caused by extensive ischemic damage i.e. post-infarction remodelling^{9, 10}. The cardiac remodeling after MI begins immediately after the injury¹¹⁻¹³. During the first hours post-infarction, myocyte death (necrosis, apoptosis) causes development of inflammation and edema in the infarcted region of the heart. After this initial (inflammatory) phase, the formation of scar tissue (replacement fibrosis) continues for up to several months after infarction in the human heart¹⁴. The process

of scar formation is much faster in rodents (mice, rats) and is completed typically within 2-3 weeks. Pathologic cardiac remodeling is responsible for development of decompensate CHF and its most important clinical consequences, i.e. decreased quality of life and premature death¹⁰. To improve symptoms and increase survival in patients with CHF it is very important to find ways to reduce and prevent ventricular remodelling^{9, 10}. This could be achieved by limiting the infarct (damage) size, reduce or prevent infarct expansion or enhance myocardial reparation-regeneration processes. To succeed in this goal in the future we will continue to depend on relevant animal models¹⁰.



Figure 1 Simplified overview for the most important parts of creatine and energy metabolism in the cardiomyocyte. Cr = creatine. ER= endoplasmatic reticulum, PCr = phosphocreatine, ATP=adenosine triphosphate. See the text for more explanations.

Myocardial energy metabolism

An integral part of pathologic cardiac remodeling is alteration in myocardial biochemistry biochemical remodelling¹⁵. One of the most important consequences of adverse biochemical remodeling is the disturbed myocardial energy metabolism given the importance of chemical energy for normal heart function. There is large body of evidence to support the argument that the failing heart is an energy starved organ^{16, 17}. The energy starvation is due to disturbances in production, transport and utilization of chemical energy in form of ATP (adenosine

triphosphate)¹⁷⁻¹⁹. At a cellular level, ATP is the energy source for most biological systems. The heart has intricate biochemical machinery for production, transport and consumption of chemical energy (Figure 1). The ability of the heart to develop a propelling pressure to cause the blood to flow in our vessels by its "indefatigable" contractions is a process that requires an enormous amount of energy in uninterrupted supply. Myofibrils use the energy stored in the ATP molecule producing degradation products ADP (adenosine-diphosphate) and inorganic phosphate (P_i). ATP can be produced in several different ways: de novo synthesis, phosphoryl transfer from phosphocreatine (PCr) catalyzed by creatine kinase (CK), oxidative phosphorylation of ADP. For the heart to function normally it is necessary that the myocardial ATP is maintained within narrow narrow boundaries of "physiological" concentration. The heart has developed a robust "biochemical machinery" in order to fulfill this important prerequisite even if the energy demand characteristically varies in the mammal heart due to different workload. Myocardial oxygen consumption is directly proportional to the rate of the oxygen that is needed for ATP synthesis by oxidative phosphorylation. With increasing oxygen consumption due to higher workload, the healthy heart will increase its synthesis of ATP in order to match the increased energy demand and maintain [ATP] constant.

The main energy producing mechanism in the heart is the ATP synthesis by oxidative phosphorylation. This takes place in the mitochondria, the respiratory chain, supply of oxygen and the ATPase taken together, rephosphorylate ADP into ATP.



is required for many essential reactions in the myocytes for ATP example; in the myofibrilar cross-bridge ATPase reaction, the Ca²⁺-ATPase reaction in the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) and many energy-demanding sodium-potassium pumps in the cell membrane. In order to describe the energy state of the cell we need to define relationship between energy demand and supply. This can be achieved by providing different biochemical indexes such as phosphorylation potential, PCr/ATP ratio, free energy of the of ATP hydrolysis and others. Phosphorylation potential is defined as: [ATP]/ [ADP] [P_i]. High [ATP]/ [ADP] [P_i] ratios inhibits ATP synthesis and stimulates chemical reactions that use ATP as substrate and low [ATP]/ [ADP] [P_i]ratios results in the opposite²⁰. In a normal, well perfused heart the typical values for ATP, ADP and P_i concentrations are 10mM, 30µM and 1mM respectively. Even very modest increases in ADP and P_i concentrations at essentially constant ATP concentrations results in a huge difference in the phosphorylation potential, thus making it a very sensitive marker of the energetic state of the cell²⁰. The phosphorylation potential has vast influence on the free energy of the of ATP hydrolysis, ΔG_{-P} . The free energy of ATP hydrolysis defines the driving force for all ATP utilizing reactions in the cell, it is expressed as : $\Delta G_{P} = \Delta G_{P}$ - RT ln [ATP]/ [ADP] [P_i], where ΔG_{P} is the standard free energy change of ATP hydrolysis, R is the gas constant and T is the absolute temperature in Kelvin. ΔG_{-P} is often described as its absolute value, $|\Delta G_{-P}|$. For an ATP utilizing reaction to take place, the driving force $(|\Delta G_{-P}|)$ of the cytoplasm of the cell must be greater that the threshold value for that particular reaction. One way to describe the difference between $|\Delta G_{P}|$ for the cell and the $|\Delta G_{P}|$ for a specific ATP utilizing reaction is energy reserve²⁰. So it is important for the cell to maintain high phosphorylation potential and $|\Delta G_{P}|$. One way to maintain a high phosphorylation potential is via the creatine kinase (CK) reaction.

The CK reaction rapidly resynthesize ATP by transferring a phosphoryl group from phosphocreatine (PCr) to ADP, and thereby it also keeps the [ADP] low^{20} .

ATP utilization: ATP + $H_2O \rightarrow ADP + P_i + H^+$

ATP resupply: $PCr + ADP + H^+ \leftrightarrow Cr + ATP$

There are different kinds of CK enzymes, the mitochondrial CK (CK_{mito}, which comes in two different forms ubiquitous and sarcomeric), the cytosolic M-CK (M = muscle) and B-CK (B = brain). The CK enzymes catalyze the reversible transfer of a phosphate group from ATP to the guanidine group of creatine (Cr) to yield ADP and PCr^{16, 20-22}.

The presence of one CK enzyme both in the mitochondria and in the cytosol creates a shuttle of energy from the mitochondria, where it is produced, to the sites of energy utilization, e.g. the myofibrils and ion pumps. After ATP synthetisation in the mitochondria, a phosphate group from ATP is transferred by CK to Cr to produce ADP and phosphocreatine (PCr). The ADP released in this reaction is directly transported back and rephosphorylated. PCr on the other hand, leaves the mitochondria and diffuses through the cytosol to the sites of ATP

consumption. At these sites, CK enzymes uses PCr to rephosphorylate ADP into ATP after which Cr diffuses back to the mitichondria²¹.

Creatine and creatine transporter

 $\dot{N}H_2$ Cr and PCr are smaller and less negatively charged than NH-ATP and ADP. Consequently, they can be stored in a much higher concentrations and can be more easily transported to the different sites in the $cell^{21}$. PCr is therefore considered as the main energy storage in the myocyte. Cr can either be introduced by food intake or be synthesized in the body. Cr synthesis begins in the kidney with the transfer of the amidino group from arginine to glycine which produces guanidinoacetate (GAA) (Figure 2). This reaction is catalyzed by L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT). GAA is then transported through the blood to the liver where it is methylated to Cr. The methylation step is catalyzed by S-adenosyl-L-methionine:N-guanidinoacetatetransferase (GAMT). The Cr leaves the liver and is transported through the bloodstream to tissues that require Cr^{21} . Cr uptake from the blood, into tissue that contains CK, as heart, skeletal muscle, brain or kidney is enabled by a specific creatine transporter $(CrT)^{21, 23}$. It has been found that the CrT can be either up- or down-regulated due to a number of different reasons. One of the consequences of CHF is down-regulation of the CrT in the cell membrane of cardiomyocytes²⁴. In experimental studies, Cr supplementation lead to down-regulation of creatine transporter both in rats²⁵ and in cell culture^{26,27}. Cr depletion induced by the creatine analogue, β guanidinoproprionic acid (BGP) in rats, lead to an increase in the CrT membrane availability²⁸.



Figure 2 Synthesis of creatine.

Arg - Arginine; AGAT - L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase; GAMT - Guanidinoacetate Nmethyltransferase; Gly - Glycine; Met - Methionine; SAH - S-adenosyl homocysteine; SAM - S-adenosyl methionine.

Myocardial energy metabolism in the failing heart

There has been a longstanding and controversial debate on the hypothesis of energy starvation of the failing heart^{17, 29, 30}. The debate is in part due to the complexity of the cellular and molecular alterations in the pathogenesis of heart failure and partly due to limitations in the methodology for studying myocardial energetics. Over a long period of time, myocardial ATP concentration was considered to be the hallmark of the myocardial energy status.

The introduction of whole organ NMR spectroscopy was a methodological breakthrough in the study of myocardial energetics, gaining new insights in to the field of myocardial energetics in the failing heart. ³¹P NMR spectroscopy allows in vitro and in vivo measurements of myocardial high energy phosphate content simultaneously with measurements of contractile function. This technique allows dynamic measurements of reaction velocities of the ATP synthesis pathways.

Today, there is compelling evidence, from both clinical and experimental studies, that HF is characterized by disturbances in the myocardial energy metabolism^{20, 31-34}. It has been previously demonstrated that that disturbances in myocardial energy metabolism ensue early in the post-infarct period and that lowering of myocardial energy reserve correlates with parameters of LV systolic and diastolic dysfunction, as well as with LV wall stress. Failing and hypertrophied myocardium is characterized by several consistent changes in the cellular energetic system, regardless of species. The size of the creatine pool is decreased in the failing heart. In CHF, the decrease in Cr is cardiac specific³⁵, in difference to in creatine deficiency syndrome³⁶. High energy phosphate metabolites are decreased in failing^{31-33, 35, 37-39} and post-infarct remodeled hearts^{40, 41}. PCr decreases early in the development of heart failure while ATP decrease occurs at the late-stage heart failure^{33, 35, 42}. In many of these experiments, the decrease in PCr was larger than the decrease in ATP resulting in lower PCr/ATP ratio. The PCr/ATP ratio is a commonly used index of cellular energy status because it reflects the equation of cellular phosphorylation potential. The PCr/ATP ratio is clinically very useful as it can be measured noninvasively *in vivo* by means of ³¹P Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS)^{32, 43, 44}. The total creatine pool, i.e. the sum of Cr and PCr, is decreased in the failing heart^{16, 22, 45, 46}. Creatine depletion is now considered a characteristic of the failing heart muscle^{24, 47-49}. This has been proven in both human¹⁶ and animal studies^{24, 50-52} Decreases in PCr and Cr occurs earlier than decreases in ATP. This could be the result of the heart's attempt to maintain normal free energy of ATP hydrolysis at the cost of decreasing intracellular Cr and thereby energy reserve. There is evidence for a decrease in the CK activity^{31, 34, 53, 54} which results in compromised capacity of the CK system to rephosphorylate ADP into ATP leading to further decrease in the energy reserve. The end-result is an energy starved heart⁵⁵. Depletion of the creatine pool can also lead to LV hypertrophy, increased propensity for development of malignant arrhythmias and systolic and diastolic dysfunction^{56,} ⁵⁷. Down-regulation of CrT in the cell membrane is also a phenomenon found in the failing heart²⁴. This is probably a negative phenomenon (if sustained over the long period of time) in the failing heart. Is the decrease in energy reserve a cause or a consequence of heart dysfunction? In recent years there has been numerous experimental studies performed in order to answer this question^{35, 47, 58-61}. To study how disturbed myocardial energy metabolism affects function and morphology one can use various experimental approaches. A very simple in vivo animal model is chemical depletion of the creatine by creatine analogue, BGP.

BGP 0 NH is an analogue to creatine which can enter the myocyte through the creatine transporter⁶² and thereby competitively inhibit Cr from entering the cell from the blood stream. Inside the myocyte, BGP can enter the mitochondria in the same way as Cr, and is used as a substrate for the CKmito to produce phosphorylated BGP and ADP⁶³. But there is one major difference of BGP's function in the myocyte compared to the function of creatine, it functions very poorly as a substrate for the cytosolic CK to produce ATP. The activity of this reaction is 3 orders of magnitude lower of its activity when using PCr as substrate⁶⁴. This effectively inhibits the CK reaction⁶⁴ and creates an ATP deficiency in the myocyte. The model mostly used in BGP-induced creatine depletion is by distribution of BGP to the animals via food and water supply. The effects of BGP feeding, are similar to what is observed in CK-deficient mice^{58, 65-67}. CK deficient mice are only one of several knock-out/transgenic models used to study the influence of creatine metabolism on the heart. Others are GAMT deficient mice^{49, 68}, and mice overexpressing CrT⁴⁸.

Lipotoxicity in myocardial infarction and heart failure - importance of endogenous lipoproteins for cardiac function, structure and arrhythmias.

The heart is an organ heavily dependent on exogenous lipids for oxidative production of ATP, which is essential for maintenance of normal cellular energy homeostasis. During the last years surprising data have been reported showing unequivocally that the heart besides being dependent on exogenous lipids also synthesizes its own endogenous lipids^{69, 70}. These lipids are produced and secreted in the form of apoB-containing lipoproteins (apoB) - which are structurally much alike plasma low-density lipoprotein particles. This phenomenon has been confirmed in several different species including humans. The fact that both humans and mice - two species parted by million years of evolution - have preserved the biochemical machinery for myocardial production of lipoproteins suggests an important physiological and/or pathophysiological regulatory role. What we know from experiments performed in transgenic animals supported by human data is that myocardial apoB production is probably not important for maintenance of normal cardiac function and structure. Both knock-out mice and humans with the rare genetic defect resulting in inability to express MTP (microsomal transfer protein – initial step in the synthesis of apoB) and consequently in abetalipoproteinemia, have normal cardiac structure and function. What we don't know is the function of myocardial apoB in the heart under pathologic conditions. Myocardial apoB could be an important cardioprotective system mobilized during pathophysiological conditions such as ischemia, pathologic remodeling and heart failure. These conditions are associated with accumulation of intracellular lipids (free fatty acids, triglycerides, ceramides, lysophospholipids etc.) in the heart. Excessive accumulation of lipids is damaging to cellular function and structure and results in development of lipotoxic heart disease. It has been demonstrated that excessive accumulation of lipids in the heart leads to $^{71-74}$:

- 1. Reduction in mitochondrial electron transfer activity.
- 2. Uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation.
- 3. Reduction in activity of ATPases.
- 4. Induction of cardiac hypertrophy.
- 5. Induction of mitochondrial death and apoptosis.
- 6. Systolic and diastolic dysfunction.

Our hypothesis is that apoB isolates and exports toxic lipids from cardiomyocytes and therefore plays an important role in maintenance of normal membrane function of organelles such as mitochondria, sarcoplasmatic reticulum and sarcolemma. Functional disturbance of these cellular units results in development of cell death and/or electrophysiological instability. In clinical terms these events would translate into development of congestive heart failure (CHF), malignant ventricular arrhythmias and sudden death.

Are endogenous lipoproteins important for preservation of myocardial function, structure and survival during MI and CHF? Intracellular lipotoxicity during MI and CHF causes cell dysfunction, cell necrosis and apoptosis. Given the previous statement we propose the following hypothesis: The heart has a protective system- apoB - which is mobilized during MI and CHF to counteract lipotoxicity by isolating and exporting toxic lipids (FFA, triglycerides, oxidized lipoproteins etc). Effective export of intracellular lipids accumulated during ischemia is essential for recovery of normal function of sarcolemma and other membrane-associated organelles. This improves myocardial function, attenuates pathologic remodeling and reduces malignant arrhythmias.

Aims of the study

- To investigate whether measures of intensive cardiac care applied to rats with acute myocardial infarction would reduce mortality rate in this small animal model.
- To investigate *in vivo* the effects of Cr depletion in rats on left ventricular function and morphology, energy metabolism, catecholamines and incidence of malignant ventricular arrhythmias during acute myocardial infarction.
- To investigate *in vivo* the effects of Cr depletion in mice on left ventricular function and morphology, energy metabolism and myocardial lipids.
- To investigate the importance of endogenous lipoproteins in the heart for cardiac function, morphology and survival in the settings of acute and chronic myocardial infarction.
- To investigate acute and chronic effects of complete heart block on cardiac function, morphology and energy metabolism in the rat model.

Methodological considerations

General descriptions of material and methods are given in each individual paper. In this section specific consideration and in some cases more detailed descriptions, of some of the methods are discussed.

Myocardial injury models

The rat model of myocardial infarction is widely used in experimental cardiology for preclinical studies. It has been a very valuable tool in this research field because of its similarity with the major pathophysiological events occurring in patients with MI and heart failure^{75, 76}. However, this model has one large disadvantage. In order to induce postinfarction heart failure, one needs to create large infarction which results in a high mortality rate. In paper I we aimed to address the question if it was possible to lower the mortality rate using some of the therapeutical interventions used in the every-day-care of patients in coronary care units. So we randomly divided the animals into two groups; the conventional care (CC) group and the intensive care (IC) group. The intensive care group was pre-treated with an injection of amiodarone to lower the incidence of arrhythmias. The anesthesia used in this group was isoflurane instead of injection anesthesia used in the CC group. This enabled us to control the grade of anesthesia during the surgery, and allowed for a quick recovery post-surgery. After surgery the IC group animals were given continuous respiratory support until they showed signs of spontaneous recovery. The IC group was monitored with ECG during the entire surgical procedure and during the recovery period. If the animals in the IC group suffered any arrhythmias, they were treated with cardioversion using a home-made defibrillator for small animals, with delivery of electroshocks in the range of 2-6 Joule.

Induction of myocardial infarction (papers I, II, IV)

The animals were anesthetized with isoflurane, intubated and connected to a small animal ventilator. The animals were kept ventilated and maintained on 2% isoflurane mixed with oxygen and room air, all through the operation. Electrodes were placed on the extremities and connected to an ECG device in order to observe the cardiac rhythm during surgery. The chest was shaved using an electrical clipper. Left thoracotomy was performed between the 4th and 5th ribs in order to expose the left ventricular wall. The pericardium was removed and the branch of the left coronary artery was ligated proximally by positioning a suture between the pulmonary artery outflow tract and the left atrium. The efficacy of the procedure was immediately verified by characteristic ECG pattern changes, and akinesis of the left ventricular wall. If these changes were not seen, an additional ligature was done. After induction of MI was verified, the lungs were hyperinflated, positive end-expiratory pressure was applied and the thorax was closed by means of 3-4 sutures. All animals received postoperative analgesia with buprenoprin 0.05 mg/kg s.c. and 0.6 mg/100 ml in the drinking water and were placed in cages with temperature control for spontaneous recovery.

Ischemia-reperfusion injury (paper IV)

The animals were anesthetized with isoflurane, intubated and connected to a small animal ventilator. The animals were kept ventilated and maintained on 2% isoflurane mixed with oxygen and room air, all through the operation until they spontaneously recovered after surgery. Electrodes were placed on the extremities and connected to an ECG device in order to observe the cardiac rhythm during surgery. The chest was shaved using an electrical clipper. Left thoracotomy was performed between the 4th and 5th ribs in order to expose the left ventricular wall. After pericardiotomy, a suture was passed under the proximal part of the branch of the left coronary artery that corresponds to the LAD in humans. Both ends of this suture were then passed through a short plastic tube, by pulling on both ends of the suture the plastic tube was gently pressed down on the artery producing a temporary occlusion of the vessel. This was verified in the same way as for the permanent MI, by akinesis of the left anterior ventricular wall and characteristic ECG changes. The animals were subjected to 30 minutes of ischemia and thereafter the vessel was reperfused, the chest was closed, and the animals were extubated and placed in temperature controlled cages for recovery. The animals were sacrificed and the hearts were collected at different periods of time after reperfusion.

In vivo ³¹P MRS (paper II)

Quantitative analysis of high-energy phosphometabolites (HEP) in tissues has been traditionally provided with the freeze clamping technique which involves extraction of HEP from rapidly frozen tissue samples. High performance liquid chromatography is then used to quantify the levels of HEP (PCr, ATP) and inorganic phosphate (Pi) as well as other metabolites. This technique is still continuously used in experimental settings. HPLC (High performance liquid chromatography) is regarded as reliable analysis but it is performed on tissue samples in vitro and does not allow repeated in vivo investigations of the study object. Volume-selective ³¹P MRS is a unique non-invasive tool for *in vivo* measurements of cellular energetic. Using this method, one can produce a ³¹P spectrum that contains information about tissue phosphometabolites. Couple of years ago Omerovic et al. were first to establish in vivo volume-selective ³¹P MRS in small animals (rats and mice)^{77, 78} using ISIS localization method. A typical ³¹P MR spectrum of the normal rat heart is given in the Figure 3. In this spectrum one can clearly discern several separate resonance areas. The origin of the ³¹P signals are phosphorus containing substances in the myocardium of rat heart obtained in vivo at 2.35 T performed at our laboratory. The most prominent resonance is a signal from PCr. To the right of PCr there are three resonances that originate from the α , β and γ phosphorus atoms of ATP molecule. To the left of PCr there are resonances originating from phosphodiesters (PDE) and inorganic phosphate (Pi). Spectra obtained in vivo usually contain an additional signal close to or overlapping with the signal from Pi. This signal originates from blood 2, 3-diphosphoglycerate mainly contained in erythrocytes. Besides concentration of phosphorus metabolites, additional information may be derived from ³¹P MR spectrum. Since the position of Pi in regard to PCr is dependent on intracellular pH, one can calculate intracellular pH in tissue of interest according to the equation. Furthermore, from the distance⁷⁹ or the ratio⁸⁰ between β - and α -ATP resonances one can indirectly calculate the intracellular Mg²⁺ concentration. Another great advantage of the technique is the possibility to calculate enzyme kinetics of the creatine kinase reaction using the method of magnetization transfer⁸¹⁻⁸³, i.e. one can calculate the velocity of the transfer of the phosphate group from PCr to ATP and vice versa. For evaluation of the myocardial energy status in vivo it is generally

accepted to use different ratios as indicators of energetic state. The two most frequently used ratios are, PCr/ATP and PCr/Pi ratios⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶. In this thesis we have used PCr/ATP ratio as an indicator of myocardial energy status.



Figure 3 ³¹P MR spectrum obtained in vivo from the normal rat heart. PCr = phosphocreatine; ATP = three ³¹P atoms of the ATP molecule; PDE = phosphodiesters; 2, 3-DPG = 2, 3-diphoshoglycerate, Pi = inorganic phosphate

Echocardiography (papers II, III, IV, V)



Figure 4 Pacing-induced stress echocardiography in the rat model.

We used transthoracal echocardiography for noninvasive evaluation of cardiac function and morphology in rats and mice. The previously validated two-dimensional, M-mode and Doppler techniques were used. Ventricular function was evaluated both during rest and stress conditions. Stress was induced either by esophageal pacing (Figure 4)⁸⁷ (paper II) or pharmacologically by means of dobutamine injection $(1\mu g/g BW)$ (paper III, IV). The investigations were performed with a 15-MHz linear transducer connected to a HDI 5000 ultrasound system (ATL, Philips Medical Systems). The parameters assessed were: left ventricular diameter in diastole (LVDd), left ventricular diameter in systole (LVDs), fractional shortening (FS), posterior wall thickness (PWT), intraventricular septum thickness (IVST), relative wall thickness (RWT), left ventricular mass (LVM), and left ventricular mass index (LVM/BW). LVM was estimated

using the formula: $LVM = 1.05 \text{ x} [(IVST + LVDd + PWT)^3 - (LVDd)^3].$

Biochemical analysis of creatine and adenine nucleotides (paper II, III, IV)

The myocardial content of high energy metabolites was of high interest in these studies. Total creatine (TCr), which is the sum of Cr and PCr, and total adenine nucleotides (TAN), which is the sum of ATP, ADP and AMP, were measured in LV tissue. The reason why we present our data as TCr and TAN instead of the respective values for each compound is that the breakdown of ATP and PCr in particular, is so rapid that reliable values cannot be obtained using biochemical analysis⁸⁸. Since TAN and TCr is the sum of ATP, ADP, AMP and Cr and PCr respectively, these values are less sensitive to degradation of ATP and PCr⁸⁹. Standard HPLC method was used for these measurements. Pieces of freeze-clamped tissue were homogenized on ice, in 0.4M perchloric acid. Aliquots of the homogenate were taken for protein determination. The rest of the homogenates were neutralized with 1M potassium hydroxide, centrifuged for 6 minutes in 5500 rpm at 4° C. Then the supernatants were filtrated on ice, using a syringe filter (0,22µm) and thereafter immediately injected into the HPLC (Smart system) to be analyzed. The column used for this analysis was a Luna 5u C18(2) column (Phenomenex). The high energy metabolite content was related to total protein content of each sample. The total protein content was determined using a BCA protein assay reagent kit.

Summary of the results

Paper I

Here we wanted to apply standard treatment methods from clinical patient care onto rats in order to see if we could decrease the mortality rate in the experimental myocardial infarction model.

Two different clinical outcomes were seen in the animals that died acutely; sudden death due to malignant ventricular arrhythmias (MVA) and cardiogenic shock due to progressive heart failure. The majority of the animals developed showed signs of some form of MVA within 5 minutes after occlusion of the coronary artery. The incidence of MVA declined over time. The animals in the IC group showed a decrease in the severity and duration of MVA compared to the CC group. Bradycardia was more frequently occurring in the CC group. All rats that experienced bradycardia had decreased pulse oximetry values and signs of dyspnea which indicated that they suffered from progressive heart failure-cardiogenic shock. The mortality rate in these animals were 100%, and interventional treatments, such as continuous i.p. infusion of dobutamine or atropine, additional bolus of diuretics, transesophageal pacing, and prolonged respiratory support, did not improve their survival.

Taken together the intensive care methods applied to the rats randomized to the IC group, resulted in a 3.5-fold reduction in acute (24 hours) mortality.

Paper II

An effective way to deplete creatine in experimental models is to use the creatine analogue β guanidinoproprionic acid (BGP), previous studies, mostly in vitro, has shown that introduction of BGP in the system competitively inhibits Cr from entering the cardiomyocytes, thereby reducing myocardial content of total creatine. This inhibits the creatine-kinase (CK) reaction and results in compromised systolic and diastolic function. The aim of this study was to evaluate the in vivo effects of BGP-induced creatine depletion in rats. Furthermore we evaluated the effects of Cr depletion on mortality and occurrence of



ventricular arrhythmias in the setting of acute MI. We also used a novel technique in the administration of the creatine analogue. Traditionally, BGP has been administered by supplementation in the food and water. But this is very costly and it

Figure 5 Echocardiographic measurements of left ventricular diameters in systole and diastole. There was evidence of LV dilatation and impairment of LV function in the BGP group compared to the control group.

is also difficult to assess if each animal received the same dose of BGP. We chose instead to administer the BGP by means of subcutaneously implanted osmotic minipumps containing 1M BGP. This subcutaneous delivery of BGP was applied over a period of 4 weeks. No local

adverse skin effects were found, suggesting good tolerance for this new BGP administration technique.

The results showed that the animals in the BGP treated group had decreased BW and increased left ventricular (LV) mass indicating myocardial hypertrophy. LV diameters in diastole and systole were increased both during rest and pacing-induced stress in the BGP treated animals (Figure 5). LV systolic function measured as FS was disturbed during both



rest and stress. In order to evaluate LV energy status the animals were investigated with in vivo volume-selective ³¹P MRS. We were unable to calculate PCr/ATP in the treated animals due to the overlapping of the resonance areas of PCr and phosphorylated BGP (P-BGP) at magnetic 2.35 T field strength. However if calculated together, the PCr + P-BGP/ATP was decreased by 39% compared to controls, which suggests that the PCr/ATP



Figure 6 Volume-selective in vivo ³¹P MRS of the rat heart. PCr/ATP ratio was reduced by ~40% in the BGP group

was decreased at least by ~40%, possibly more, in the BGP treated group (Figure 6). Similar overlapping between Cr and BGP and PCr and P-BGP was seen in the HPLC analyses. When calculated together, the total Cr was reduced by 50% in the BGP group. This finding suggests that in the BGP treated animals, the total creatine content in the myocardium

was decreased by at least 50%. We found a tendency towards lower myocardial noradrenaline (NA) content in BGP group. No difference was observed in the plasma catecholamine content.

As for the effects of creatine depletion in the settings of acute MI, there were two sets of clinical courses in the animals that died acutely: Their mode of death was either sudden due to ventricular arrhythmias (ventricular fibrillation), or protracted due to progressive heart failure and cardiogenic shock characterized by development of sustained bradycardia and severe hypoxia. There was a distinct difference in mortality rate between the groups. In the BGP treated group 93% of the rats died within 60 minutes post-MI, compared to 46% in the control



Figure 7 ECG tracing from a rat with acute MI with spontaneously terminating ventricular fibrillation (VF)

group. There was also a difference in a cause of death. In the control group 100% of the deaths were due to arrhythmias, compared to 78% in the BGP group. The remaining 22% of deaths in the BGP treated group were due to worsening heart failure and cardiogenic shock. The BGP treated animals demonstrated a higher arrhythmia score suggesting that Crdepleted heart is more prone to develop malignant ventricular arrhythmias (Figure 7) during the course of acute myocardial infarction.

Paper III

Similarly to paper 2 the aim of this study was to investigate the effects of myocardial BGPinduced creatine depletion on LV function and morphology in mice. We also aimed to evaluate effects of creatine depletion on lipid metabolism. Another specific goal was to investigate whether alterations in myocardial structure, function and biochemistry were reversible upon normalization of the creatine content. The novelty of this study is induction of BGP-induced creatine depletion in mice, assessment of lipid metabolism and test of reversibility. Similarly to the rat model, after four weeks of BGP treatment the total myocardial Cr pool was decreased by 40% compared with controls.

LV systolic function was decreased in the BGP treated mice. LV dimension both in systole and diastole were increased compared with controls, indicating LV dilatation. LV mass was also elevated in the BGP treated animals suggesting presence of myocardial hypertrophy.

There was a 2-fold increase in the myocardial content of triglycerides in the BGP treated animals after four weeks. No significant differences were found in the other lipid compounds analyzed. Four weeks after discontinuation of the BGP treatment all of these functional, morphological and metabolic disturbances (except for the BW) were completely reversed. The BW was increased in both groups but was still significantly lower in the BGP treated group compared to the control group.

Paper IV

In this study there were two main aims, 1) to investigate if cardiac apoB-containing lipoprotein is activated in response to ischemic injury and doxorubicin (DOX) induced acute heart failure and 2) to investigate the effects of apoB overexpression on the myocardial function and survival after MI.

The myocardial apoB content in mice was increased both in the ischemic anterior wall as well as in the remote non-ischemic posterior wall, compared with the normal hearts after 0, 3, 6, 24 and 48 hours of reperfusion following the 30 minutes of ischemia. After 120 hours of



Figure 8 Survival in apoB and wild-type mice after myocardial infarction

reperfusion the difference was no longer significant compared to the controls. There was no difference in apoB content between the anterior and posterior wall at any of the given time-points of reperfusion. Surprisingly, eight weeks post-MI, there was a marked decrease in apoB content down to 16% of the value measured in the controls. No upregulation of apoB was detected in the mice with DOX-induced acute heart failure.

An important finding of this study was a difference in myocardial response in rats compared to mice. This suggests a species

specific apoB response to myocardial injury. In the rats the apoB content was increased ~2-fold in the ischemically-damaged part of the myocardium compared to the controls, at 24

hours of reperfusion after ischemia, but there was no such increase in the remote non-injured region. Furthermore, DOX-induced heart failure in rats, resulted in a ~70% reduction of myocardial apoB content compared to controls.

Echocardiographic examinations of the heart revealed important differences between the mice with apoB overexpression and wild-type mice. The apoB mice had a thinner posteriors wall and tended to have a lower heart rate compared to the wild-type mice at baseline. But there were no differences in parameters of systolic or diastolic function of left ventricular dimensions between the groups, either at rest or during stress conditions. There was no difference in LV dimensions between the groups post-MI. At 2 and 4 weeks post MI the apoB mice had better systolic function at rest. This beneficial effect was not sustained at 6 weeks post MI. We found no differences in infarct size between the apoB mice and the wild-type mice at six weeks post MI. BW was similar between the groups at the end of the study. However, LV weight was lower in the apoB group. The apoB transgenic mice showed a two-fold better survival at 6 weeks post MI compared to wild type control mice (Figure 8). The largest part of the mortality occurred acute post MI i.e. within the first 24 hours post-infarction.

Paper V

The aim of this paper was to study the effects of complete heart block (CHB) on cardiac function, morphology, and energy metabolism in a rat model. At first we tried to induce CHB by ethanol injections, but despite increasing amounts of ethanol and repeated injections, the success rate for establishment of permanent CHF was as low as 5%. We changed method and started using electrocautery to induce CHB instead. Using this method we were able to increase the success rate of permanent CHB induction to 54%. The animals with permanent CHB recovered and appeared healthy throughout the course of the experiment. Both shortterm and long-term effects of CHB were evaluated using echocardiography examinations at 1, 3 and 12 weeks post CHB induction. The CHB animals had significantly lower ventricular rates both at the early and the late time points compared to the controls, but the atrial rates were similar between the groups throughout the experiment. LV dimensions were increased in the CHB animals compared with the controls and relative LV wall thickness was decreased, which suggests development of eccentric hypertrophy. The LV hypertrophy and LV dilation was detected as early as 1 week post CHB induction and was sustained until 12 weeks after. As a compensation for the lower HR the CHB animals had a 2.5 fold increase in their stroke volume (SV), which was sufficient to maintain the CO at similar values as the control animals. The myocardial contractility, seen as FS, was however decreased at 3 and 12 weeks, but this was not seen as early as 1 week. The animals were also examined using invasive hemodynamics at12 weeks after the CHB induction. There were no differences between the groups in left-ventricular and right-ventricular end-diastolic pressures suggesting that CHF had not developed in these animals. There were also no signs of disturbed myocardial energy metabolism. The myocardial content of creatine and the high-energy phosphometabolites did not differ between the groups.

Discussion

Paper I

Scientists and clinicians need to better understand the pathophysiology and molecular mechanism of the disease processes involved in development of MI and CHF to define the targets for future interventions in order to e.g. decrease MI size, prevent or suppress malignant arrhythmias, prevent or attenuate pathologic LV remodeling, improve function and morphology of the failing heart etc. To achieve these goals, we will continue to depend on relevant animal models. One such valuable model is experimental MI in rats. Induction of MI and development of CHF that follows in rats is a widely used experimental model for studies of various aspects of MI and CHF. Complete occlusion of the left coronary artery results in MI of variable sizes with occurrence of overt heart failure in a subset of animals with large MI^{78, 90-92}. The impairment of LV function is related to the loss of functional myocardium. Development of CHF is associated with LV dilatation, reduced systolic function and increased filling pressures as well as with neurohormonal activation similar to that seen in patients^{90, 93-95}. Besides a large body of knowledge derived from this model in terms of basic science and clinical aspects of MI and CHF the model is also associated with lower costs for experimental procedures and animal handling as compared to the equivalent large animal models. On the other hand, the major disadvantage is high mortality particularly in the setting of a large MI which presence is necessary to commence the process of LV remodeling. In this study we have demonstrated that malignant ventricular arrhythmias (ventricular tachycardia and ventricular fibrillation) and progressive HF are the major causes of death. Ventricular arrhythmias were responsible for ~ 80 % of all deaths while progressive HF-cardiogenic shock developed in the minority (~ 20%) of the rats. Other possible causes of death (usually accidental) include bleeding, infection, excessive inadvertent overdosage of anesthesia and drugs. Acute mortality (i.e. within first 24 hours) is responsible for ~ 95 % of all deaths that will occur within first 3 months after induction of MI. When performing animal experiments one is obliged to follow the laws regulating the use of animals for experimental purposes based on the rules stipulated by national and international ethical comities. We believe that the use of animals in medical research is not only valuable scientifically but is also an ethical imperative prior to clinical trials. However we also support the argument that we must improve and develop experimental models which will lead to a decrease in unnecessary loss of animal life^{96, 97}.

In conclusion, the study has shown that the use of pre-treatment with the antiarrhythmic drug amiodarone, respiratory support, isoflurane gas anaesthesia and aggressive treatment of sustained MVA with electrical cardioversion are simple and effective measures which reduce mortality in rats with acute MI. Improving survival rates increases ethical acceptance and cost-efficiency of this important experimental model.

Paper II

The most important results of this study showed that myocardial Cr depletion results in disturbed LV function, pathologic LV remodeling, and altered energy metabolism. Induction of acute MI in the setting of creatine depletion is associated with high acute mortality caused by ventricular arrhythmias and worsening heart failure. Our results support the hypothesis

that intact myocardial energy metabolism is necessary for maintenance of normal structure and function of the heart.

The rat model of myocardial creatine depletion induced by BGP feeding has been described perviously⁵⁵. Here, however, osmotic minipumps were used for BGP delivery because we found it to be more convenient and much less expensive than the food enrichment protocols used in previous studies^{56, 61, 98}.

We found that the LV function was deteriorated under both basal and stress conditions. This differs from the result in a previous study⁵⁵ in which Cr depletion resulted in LV hypertrophy and dysfunction during stress. The reason for this discrepancy between the studies is not clear, but could be due to the use of different methods and possibly to a more severe Cr depletion using subcutaneous BGP administration.

Even though it is known that the failing heart is characterized by disturbed energy metbolism²⁰, it is not yet known to which extent the supply and demand mismatch in chemical energy, contributes to the development of CHF. Our study provides in vivo evidence, that Cr depletion may be a part in the pathogenesis of LV dysfunction, pathologic remodeling, and disturbed energy metabolism, as seen in CHF patients.

Others have reported increased LV mass and volume after prolonged BGP feeding⁵⁶. In our study we saw evidence of pathologic remodeling already after 4 weeks of BGP treatment, using noninvasive *in vivo* echocardiographic measurements. This confirms the previous findings. From the present data we have not been able to determine a cause for the LV dilatation, but there are a number of possible explanations. The heart could be trying to preserve cardiac output by compensating for the disturbed function, by employing the Frank-Starling mechanism. Others have implicated Cr in regulation of protein synthesis⁹⁹, if so, maybe the LV dilatation could be a direct consequence of the Cr depletion.

The ³¹P MRS examinations showed a decreased PCr + P-BGP/ATP ratio in the BGP treated animals. This is the first *in vivo* evidence of disturbed energy metabolism in the BGP induced Cr depletion.

A major cause of CHF is ischemic heart disease². A large portion of CHF patients, suffer sudden death mostly caused by malignant ventricular arrhythmias¹⁰⁰. The more advanced the CHF is, the higher the mortality rate, and with that the rate of sudden death¹⁰¹. Trying to decrease this fatal clinical outcome the search for novel therapies and pharmacologic interventions is of great importance. Based on the evidence found in this study, one way to achieve this goal may be to prevent Cr depletion and improve the energy metabolism of the heart. In a similar model, others have reported that rats suffering from Cr depletion die within 24 hours post MI induction⁵⁶, however they did not determine the cause of these deaths. Our data shows that the major causes of death are ventricular arrhythmias, worsening HF and cardiogenic shock. This demonstrates that electrophysiological instability is an important consequence of disturbed myocardial energy metabolism. An intact Cr metabolism appears to be essential for survival during the acute phase of MI. Even though our data in this study does not explain the molecular mechanisms behind the increased susceptibility for arrhythmias in the energetically altered heart, there is other evidence that support this coupling^{102, 103}. But other mechanisms may also be involved in the development of ventricular arrhythmias in the Cr-depleted heart. There is a possibility that the left ventricular hypertrophy of the Crdepleted heart may have contributed to the increased incidence of ventricular arrhythmias. Evidence suggest that there is a link between left ventricular hypertrophy and increased

incidence of ventricular arrhythmias¹⁰⁴. However, the sole presence of left ventricular hypertrophy does not always lead to an increased incidence of arrhythmias¹⁰⁵. A possible direct pro-arrhythmic effect of BGP itself cannot be excluded.

The absence of data concerning MI size is an important limitation of this study, because it is not known how a decrease in myocardial Cr affects MI size. Bothe the severity of left ventricular dysfunction and the incidence of ventricular arrhythmias may be dependent on MI size. This should be examined in future research.

In a recent study it was shown also supranormal levels of Cr in the heart may result in left ventricular hypertrophy and dysfunction⁴⁸. This provides a strong indication that it is very important for the heart to maintain the narrow physiologic Cr concentrations in order to uphold normal structure, function and energy metabolism. Further studies should address the question of whether disturbances in left ventricular morphology and function caused by CR depletion, may be a reversible process.

Paper III

In this study the aim was to use the same Cr depletion model established in paper II, but in a mice model instead, and see if the disturbances in LV function, morphology and creatine metabolism was reversible after normalization of the Cr levels. We also wanted to investigate if Cr depletion leads to alterations in myocardial lipid metabolism.

The most important findings of this study is 1) that Cr depletion in mice results in compromised cardiac function, development of pathologic LV remodeling and accumulation of intracellular triglycerides, and 2) that normalization of the myocardial Cr levels results in a complete reversal of these cardiac abnormalities.

In paper II we found evidence of disturbances in LV function, morphology and energy metabolism caused by Cr depletion in a rat model. Those findings are similar to those found in this mice model of Cr depletion, in regards to compromised LV function, geometry and disturbed energy metabolism.

In this study we also wanted to investigate, the simple but highly important question whether the functional, morphological and metabolic consequences of the Cr depletion were reversible. This important question has not been previously addressed. Cr depletion and disturbances in the myocardial energy metabolism are generally regarded as a characteristic part of the pathological remodeling in CHF. However there are some researchers that argue that Cr depletion may be a compensatory biochemical mechanism activated to preserve the normal value of ΔG of ATP hydrolysis, and that any measures to increase Cr in the failing heart may be deleterious ^{16, 20, 50}. Our data speaks against this argument since the spontaneous normalization of Cr, following the cessation of BGP treatment, lead to complete reversal of the pathologic remodeling with normalization of cardiac function and metabolism. These findings support the theory that Cr metabolism could be an important pharmacologic target for future CHF therapies.

Conditions as ischemia, pathologic remodeling and heart failure are associated with myocardial accumulation of intracellular lipids. Excessive lipid accumulation in the heart is damaging to the cellular function and structure, and leads to the development of lipotoxic

heart disease⁷⁴. It is believed that lipotoxicity may significantly contribute to the development and progression of CHF. Our study demonstrates that left ventricular dysfunction and pathologic remodeling induced by Cr depletion is sufficient to give rise to pronounced intracellular accumulation of triglycerides. It is possible that the triglyceride accumulation itself contributed to the developed abnormalities in LV function and structure. The discontinuation of BGP followed by normalization of the Cr levels in the heart, lead to a complete normalization of both triglyceride levels and LV function and morphology. The study provides the evidence for an interaction between Cr and TG metabolism. The mechanisms behind this is not clear, but some previous studies have demonstrated that Cr is directly involved in the regulation of mitochondrial function, which is mediated by a direct stimulatory effect of Cr on Krebs cycle and mitochondrial respiration^{21, 106}. The Cr depletion in this model reduces the stimulatory effect on mitochondria. This may cause decreased fattyacid utilization, which in turn could lead to triglyceride accumulation. The hypothesis that Cr may play a role in the regulation of mitochondrial function is supported by the existence of a specific mitochondrial CrT and a mitochondrial Cr/PCr pool.²³. Future studies should look into the mechanisms behind the coupling between Cr depletion and triglyceride accumulation.

Transgenic models of both the depletion of myocardial creatine⁴⁹ and the excess of creatine⁴⁸ have been reported. These models have contributed to our knowledge of the creatine system and its role in myocardial energy metabolism, but they also have limitations. For example the knocking of GAMT resulted in decreased Cr levels in both serum and heart, but had no obvious effect on the structure and morphology of the heart. These results are in conflict with the result from both this study and our previous study in rat (paper II) using the BGP induced Cr depletion. The differences could be explained by the fact that in the genetically altered animal model, there could be other biochemical mechanisms activated to compensate for the faulty metabolic pathway.

Paper IV

The most important findings in this study are the biphasic pattern of the myocardial apoB response, the attenuated/reduced response in DOX-induced acute HF and the marked decrease in mortality following MI in mice with apoB overexpression.

The apoB system may play an important role in the cardioprotection by counteracting excessive intracellular lipid accumulation and thereby prevent/attenuate development of lipotoxic heart disease^{107, 108}. This hypothesis is based on the results from transgenic models of myocardial lipotoxicity and development of cardiomyopathic HF. When these transgenic mice were crossed with mice that overexpressed apoB in the heart, the result was improved cardiac function and survival¹⁰⁷.

Our aim was to investigate how myocardial apoB expression affects survival, normal cardiac function and structure, and ventricular arrhythmias, in a model of acute MI and HF. This has not been studied previously.

Increased microsomal transfer protein (MTP) expression was found in the hypoxic areas of the LV of patients with ischemic heart disease undergoing cardiac surgery, and the MTP expression was negatively correlated with TG content¹⁰⁸. Our results are in agreement with these data from the clinical study. We show that ischemia induce a rapid and sustained response in apoB expression in the early post-MI phase. The apoB response to an ischemic

injury seems to be species specific. In mice we observed up-regulation of apoB in the ischemic area but also in the non-ischemic remote area of the heart whereas in rats apoB was only up-regulated in the ischemic region. Other studies have shown that lipids accumulate rapidly in the peri-infarct area as well as in the remote, viable myocardium post-MI¹⁰⁹. The reason for the species difference in apoB response is not known, but it may be related to known species-dependent differences in the myocardial metabolism^{110, 111}.

An unexpected finding was that apoB dramatically decreased in the hearts of animals with chronic post-MI HF. The mechanisms for this time-dependent difference in the apoB response is not clear. We have not measured the apoB expression between five days and eight weeks, but it is plausible to assume that the initial increase in the apoB response reaches a plateau a few days postinfarction, and then steadily decreases to the subnormal levels found eight weeks post-MI. This suggests a development of exhaustion in the apoB response. These findings are in agreement with the functional and mortality data from our substudy of survival postinfarction in apoB transgenic mice. The excessive mortality in the control group was most notable within the first 24h post-MI. This is the phase that shows upregulation of apoB \sim 2 times the normal level. This early postinfarction phase is also characterized by development of acute HF due to a large MI. The reasons and mechanisms behind the improved survival of the apoB overexpressing mice may not be determined by the present data and needs further investigation. However, we speculate that myocardial overexpression of apoB results in a better and more prompt activation of a compensatory mechanism to maintain contractile function. Furthermore, the overexpression of apoB may give rise to mechanisms that protects the heart against arrhythmias, by isolating and exporting pro-arrhythmic lipids during and after an ischemia-reperfusion period^{112, 113}. Although intracellular lipid accumulation has been shown to exert pronounced pro-arrhythmic effects^{114, 115} we did not observe any difference in arrhythmia incidence between the groups within 45 min post-MI. But we believe that this finding should be interpreted cautiously since mice has a low incidence of arrhythmias in the setting of MI, compared to other animal models^{116, 117}. There are also differences in regards to arrhythmias between different mouse strains¹¹⁸. Future studies using other models should address the question whether apoB could provide an anti-arrhythmic protection. The fact that the incidence of arrhythmias was no different between the groups and that the systolic function early post-MI was better in the mice overexpressing apoB, strongly suggests that the reason for the increased survival of the apoB mice is related to a better ability to cope with the hemodynamic consequences of acute HF. One explanation could be that apoB overexpressing hearts are remodeled in terms of function, structure and biochemistry, and that these alterations together provide a better ability to adapt during life-threatening conditions such as large MI and acute CHF. Further studies are needed to find the mechanisms for these and/or other possible differences in the cardiac phenotype of apoB overexpression.

There was no apparent effect of apoB overexpression on infarct size measured six weeks post-MI. That the infarct size was similar, but the heart weight was lower indicates an antiremodeling effect of apoB. Previous studies have shown that there is a close relationship between myocardial lipid metabolism and hypertrophy¹¹⁹⁻¹²¹. In the late post-MI phase there was no longer any improvement in systolic function between the groups, but the survival benefit remained however. One could speculate that this may be related to the biphasic timedependent apoB response. Exhaustion of apoB maybe a part of a pathologic biochemical remodeling, that contributes to the phenomenon of transition from compensated LV dysfunction to overt HF. The regulation of apoB synthesis in the liver is relatively well studied¹²², but the regulation of endogenous apoB in the heart is more unknown. It is possible that the mechanisms in the heart are similar to those in liver. Given the fact that neurohormonal, mechanical and metabolic processes are of great importance for the cardiac function and structure after injury, it will be important to explore how these processes affect the apoB regulation in the heart post-MI and in HF. It should also be explored how myocardial apoB regulation is affected by pharmacological agents used for treating MI and HF.

The finding that doxorubicin-induced acute HF did not induce myocardial apoB synthesis in mice and was actually decreased in the rat heart is rather intriguing. It suggests that the mechanisms of myocardial damage and/or the nature of the noxious stimuli may be important for apoB activation. Doxorubicin -induced cardiotoxicity is a well described model of experimental CHF^{123, 124}. This agent induces myocardial injury through several mechanisms including severe mitochondrial dysfunction, disturbed energy metabolism, lipid accumulation and DNA damage (for review see ^{125, 126}. We should explore the possibility that doxorubicin - due to the DNA damage - may disrupt the genetic message involved in the synthesis of MTP and apoB molecules. Indeed, doxorubicin although being one of the most effective cytostatic agents for treatment of different malignancies, may cause a special form of toxic cardiomyopathy and CHF^{127, 128}. This leads to the question whether doxorubicin -induced cardiomyopathy at least in part may be mediated by its ability to suppress the apoB response.

Paper V

The most important results in this study was that induction of complete heart block (CHB) in rats resulted in early and sustained cardiac remodeling. The animals with CHB developed eccentric LV hypertrophy but have preserved normal systolic function. No evidence of disturbed myocardial Cr metabolism was found.

Animal models of CHB can provide valuable information about the hemodynamic, electrophysiological, morphological and metabolic consequences of ventricular bradycardia and loss of synchrony between the atrial and ventricular activation. There are several experimental models both in large^{129, 130} and small animals^{131, 132}. In a rat model recently described the CHB was induced by injection of ethanol into the AV-node area¹³¹. We were unsuccessful in our attempt to reproduce this previous method for induction of permanent CHB. Most of the animals developed CHB rapidly upon the injections but the state was transient for the most part, only ~5% of the animals developed permanent CHB. We then tried direct electrocautery instead and found that to be a much more reliable model for induction of CHB.

The use of echocardiography for non-invasive and longitudinal evaluation of the CHB rat model has not been done previously. This investigation revealed important information about the LV remodeling and LV function in the rat suffering from CHB. After 1 week post CHB, there was already a marked decrease in LV diameters and SV - compensatory mechanisms to maintain a normal cardiac output. The animals had developed eccentric hypertrophy, but showed no signs of disturbed LV function. The remodeling continued and the eccentric hypertrophy increased further during the following weeks. At 3 and 12 weeks the LV contractile function, measured as FS, was decreased but no evidence of increasing RV and LV filling pressures were found. Decreased FS has not been reported previously in the

experimental model of CHB. We speculate that it may be explained by the "Bodwitchphenomenon". This is a force-frequency relationship that could be explained shortly as; the myocardial contractility decreases when HR decreases and vice versa^{133, 134}. This hypothesis is supported by human data from elite athletes in whom a decreased FS has been demonstrated when compared to healthy controls^{135, 136}.

Intracellular depletion of Cr and alterations in the high energy phosphometabolites are important indicators of disturbed energy metabolism in the heart. Disturbances in the myocardial energy metabolism in general and Cr depletion in particular, have been associated with pathologic biochemical remodeling in different types of LV hypertrophy and CHF^{28, 47}. However, we were unable to detect any signs of disturbances in this system after 12 weeks of chronic volume-overload due to complete AV-block, even though the animals now had developed pronounced hypertrophy. Other studies have shown a decreased PCr/ATP ratio in the failing and hypertrophied heart^{20, 50, 51}. Cr depletion is regarded as the major cause for decreased PCr content in the myocardium, since 70% of all Cr exists in its phosphorylated form, in the setting of chronic CHF and advanced hypertrophy. Therefore it is likely to assume that if Cr content is unaltered, the PCr/ATP ratio is also normal. The reason that our data differ from previous reports where hypertrophy is associated with disturbed energy metabolism^{137, 138}, could be that the eccentric LV hypertrophy associated with chronic CHB is more adaptive and physiologic than hypertrophy associated with pure volume-overload.

Cardiac remodeling is a continuous process of alterations in genome expression, molecular, cellular and interstitial changes that are manifested clinically as changes in size, shape and function of the heart⁹. The process is influenced by hemodynamic load, neurohormonal activation, extent and location of myocardial damage and probably many other factors which are currently the focus of clinical and experimental research¹³⁹⁻¹⁴¹. Cardiac remodeling ultimately leads to development of progressive myocardial dysfunction during time. It is generally accepted that early remodeling in response to pathologic stimuli (e.g., abnormal wall stresses) is an adaptive and useful response in the short term but it is the continuation of the process that is regarded as a maladaptive response. This small-animal model of post – CHB remodeling offers the possibility to study neurohormonal, metabolic, cellular, subcellular and other processes involved in development of adaptive and more physiological LV remodeling in contrast to the pathologic remodeling. Insights into molecular mechanisms behind beneficial cardiac remodeling may be useful for development of pharmacological and other interventions to attenuate and prevent progression of pathologic cardiac remodeling that leads to development of CHF. Our findings on LV remodeling and functional adaptation in this model are in agreement with those described in the canine model^{129, 142}. One important limitation of this small animal model of CHB at the present time is a difficulty to implement different pacing strategies. This type of studies is more appropriate in large-animal models although the future advances in pace-maker technology with development of smaller devices may allow pacing studies even in small- animal models.

Conclusions

Application of measures of intensive cardiac care effectively decreases mortality in the rat model of myocardial infarction and acute heart failure.

Myocardial creatine depletion leads to disturbed energy metabolism, left ventricular dysfunction, pathologic remodeling and accumulation of triglycerides. These alterations are reversible upon the normalization of the creatine levels suggesting that creatine metabolism may be an important target for future pharmacological intervention in order to increase myocardial efficiency and maintain structural integrity of the failing heart. The biochemically remodeled heart is extremely prone to malignant ventricular arrhythmias and to rapid progression of acute heart failure when subjected to acute myocardial infarction.

The myocardial apoB could be an important cardioprotective system mobilized during pathophysiological conditions such as ischemia, pathologic remodeling and heart failure which may protect the heart from pathologic consequences of intracellular lipotoxicity. Myocardial apoB system may be involved in the development of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy.

Long-term bradycardia due to complete heart block leads to left ventricular remodeling with development of pronounced eccentric hypertrophy but with preserved energy metabolism and no signs of heart failure. This model may be useful in future studies of mechanisms behind the beneficial cardiac remodeling.

Acknowledgements

I want to express my sincere gratitude to all who have helped during the work on this thesis; it would not have been possible without them. Especially I would like to thank:

Min handledare, Elmir Omerovic för all hjälp, stöd och för att du alltid funnits till hand när jag haft frågor eller behövt hjälp. Tack också för din härliga entusiasm för forskingen och för alla intressanta projekt som jag har kunnat ta del av.

Min bihandledare Finn Wagstein för att du välkomnade mig in i hjärtgruppen och för att du alltid funnits där med uppmuntran och svar på frågor om det behövts.

Min kollega Truls för gott samarbete och trevligt sällskap som muntrade upp dagarna i "bunkern" på EBM.

Entela, för mycket gott samarbete och många trevliga stunder och härligt stöd.

Meta Scharin Täng för ovärderlig hjälp med ultraljuds undersökningar på mina möss – du är en klippa! Ett stort tack för att du även är min vän och för många trevliga och roliga stunder (samt vissa mer panikslagna ⁽²⁾) både på lab och på konferenser i bl.a. Polen, Lissabon och Prag.

Stort tack till mina övriga medförfattare Jan Borén, German Camejo, Pia Stillemark-Bilton, Lennart Bergfeldt och Sigfus Gizurarson för mycket gott och intressant samarbete.

Azra Isic för att du alltid är snabb och snäll att hjälpa om det krisar och för alla trevliga stunder vi haft ihop både på labbet och på konferenser o middagar.

Alla övriga i hjärtgruppen, både nuvarande och de som "försvunnit på vägen", framförallt: Malin, Lisa, Erika, Eva A, Bente, Eva C, Helen, Reza och Annie. Det har varit fantastiskt att vara del av denna härliga grupp – tack för allt stöd och uppmuntran samt alla roliga pratstunder!

Caroline Beck för alla stöttande, uppmuntrande ord och ovärderliga samtal om allt och ingenting nere i skrivrummet!

Heimir Snorrason – tack för all hjälp med stora och små datorproblem!

Till alla som jobbar på Wallenberglab för trevliga pratstunder i lunchrummet och den trevliga atmosfären på lab.

Maria Gustafsson – min vän! Känns som vi känt varandra i evigheter, men det var ju faktiskt på wlab vi träffades och hade otroligt roligt då vi jobbade här båda två både på och utanför lab! Du är en fantastisk vän som alltid finns där för mig - ska bli underbart att fira detta ihop med dig snart, och det är ju roligt att vi är så bra på telepati, även när du är långt borta! © Tack!

Malin Levin – ytterligare en underbar vän som jag funnit på wlab. Har alltid otroligt roligt ihop med dig och det var fantastiskt kul att du återvände till Wlab förra året! Tror inte jag hade klarat denna sommar utan dina uppmuntrande ord och trevliga samtal som avbrott i skrivandet.

Lisa och Anna – ni är fantastiska vänner! Lisa – det var så kul att även du återvände till wlab – vi har delat mycket genom åren nu och du är alltid underbart positiv och härlig! Anna – är så glad att vi blivit så bra vänner – tack för att du finns där! Och nu när min "isolering" är över – ska det bli underbart att träffa er snart igen!

Maria, Malin, Max, Linda F, Per och Linda S – tack för alla roliga stunder vi hade när vi var på wlab allihop!

Och Linda och Per – ser mycket framemot att ni ska flytta hem igen snart!

Mina övriga vänner – ni vet vilka ni är, tack så otroligt mycket för alla roliga och härliga stunder – allt är så mycket roligare när jag får dela det med er!

Mina föräldrar och systrar – tack för att ni finns och att ni stöttat mig genom alla år av studier!

Markus – min älskade man. Jag hade ALDRIG klarat av detta utan dig, du tror alltid på mig (även när jag själv kanske inte gör det). Du gör mig lycklig!

References

- 1. Rydén-Bergsten T, and Andersson, F. The health care costs of heart failure in Sweden. *Journal of Internal Medicine*. 1999;246:275-284.
- 2. McMurray JJ, and Stewart S. Epidemiology, aetiology, and prognosis of heart failure. *Heart*. 2000;83:596-602.
- **3.** Ho KK PJ, Kannel WB, Levy D. The epidemiology of heart failure: the Framingham study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1993;22(4 Suppl A):6A-13A.
- 4. Jessup M, Brozena S. Heart failure. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348(20):2007-2018.
- 5. Stewart S, MacIntyre K, Capewell S, McMurray JJ. Heart failure and the aging population: an increasing burden in the 21st century? *Heart*. 2003;89(1):49-53.
- **6.** Redfield MM. Heart failure--an epidemic of uncertain proportions. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347(18):1442-1444.
- **7.** Braunwald E. Shattuck lecture--cardiovascular medicine at the turn of the millennium: triumphs, concerns, and opportunities. *N Engl J Med.* 1997;337(19):1360-1369.
- **8.** Braunwald E. Heart Disease. 1999.
- **9.** Cohn JN, Ferrari R, Sharpe N. Cardiac remodeling--concepts and clinical implications: a consensus paper from an international forum on cardiac remodeling. Behalf of an International Forum on Cardiac Remodeling. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2000;35(3):569-582.
- **10.** Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E. Ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction. Experimental observations and clinical implications. *Circulation*. 1990;81(4):1161-1172.
- **11.** Eaton LW, Bulkley BH. Expansion of acute myocardial infarction: its relationship to infarct morphology in a canine model. *Circ Res.* 1981;49(1):80-88.
- **12.** Hochman JS, Bulkley BH. Expansion of acute myocardial infarction: an experimental study. *Circulation*. 1982;65(7):1446-1450.
- **13.** Korup E, Dalsgaard D, Nyvad O, Jensen TM, Toft E, Berning J. Comparison of degrees of left ventricular dilation within three hours and up to six days after onset of first acute myocardial infarction. *The American journal of cardiology*. 1997;80(4):449-453.
- **14.** Fishbein MC, Maclean D, Maroko PR. The histopathologic evolution of myocardial infarction. *Chest.* 1978;73(6):843-849.
- **15.** Laser A, Ingwall JS, Tian R, Reis I, Hu K, Gaudron P, Ertl G, Neubauer S. Regional biochemical remodeling in non-infarcted tissue of rat heart post-myocardial infarction. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* 1996;28(7):1531-1538.
- **16.** Ingwall. Is Cardiac Failure a Consequence of Decreased Energy reserve? *Circulation*. 1993;87(suppl VII):VII-58 VII-62.
- Ingwall JS. Is the failing Myocardium Energy-Starved? The Role of the Creatine Kinase System. *Heart Failure*. 1994(June/July):128-136.
- **18.** Conway MA AJ, Ouwerkerk R, Niioka T, Rajagopalan B, and Radda GK. Detection of low phosphocreatine to ATP ratio in failing hypertrophied human myocardium by 31P magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Lancet.* 1991;338:973-976.
- **19.** Hardy CJ WR, Bottomley PA, and Gerstenblith G. Altered Myocardial high-energy phosphate metabolites in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Am Hear J.* 1991;122(3 Pt 1):795-801.
- **20.** Ingwall JS, and Shen, W. The Chemistry of ATP in the Failing Heart-The Fundamentals. *Heart Failure Reviews*. 1999;4:221-228.
- **21.** Wyss M, and Kaddurah-Daouk, R. Creatine and Creatinine Metabolism. *Physiological Reviews*. 2000;80 No.3(july):1107-1188.
- **22.** Ingwall JS AD, Clarke C, and Fetters JK. Energetic correlates of cardiac failure: Changes in the creatine kinase system i the failing myocardium. *Europea Heart Journal*. 1990;11, (Supplement B):108-115.
- **23.** Speer O, Neukomm LJ, Murphy RM, Zanolla E, Schlattner U, Henry H, Snow RJ, Wallimann T. Creatine transporters: a reappraisal. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2004;256-257(1-2):407-424.
- **24.** Neubauer S, Remkes, H., Spindler, M., Horn, M., Wiesmann, F., Prestle, J., Walzel, B., Ertl, G., Hasenfuss, G., and Wallimann, T. Downregulation of the Na(+) -Creatine Cotransporter in

Failing Human Myocardium and in Experimental Heart Failure. *Circulation*. 1999;100:1847-1850.

- **25.** Guerrero-Ontiveros ML, and Wallimann, T. Creatine supplementation in health and disease. Effects of chronic creatine ingestion *in vivo*: Down-regulation of the expression of creatine transporter isoforms in skeletal muscle. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*. 1998;184:427-437.
- **26.** Loike JD, Zalutsky DL, Kaback E, Miranda AF, Silverstein SC. Extracellular creatine regulates creatine transport in rat and human muscle cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1988;85(3):807-811.
- 27. Odoom JE, Kemp GJ, Radda GK. The regulation of total creatine content in a myoblast cell line. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 1996;158(2):179-188.
- **28.** Boehm E, Chan S, Monfared M, Wallimann T, Clarke K, Neubauer S. Creatine transporter activity and content in the rat heart supplemented by and depleted of creatine. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2003;284(2):E399-406.
- 29. Katz AM. Is the failing heart energy depleted? *Cardiology clinics*. 1998;16(4):633-644, viii.
- **30.** Vogt AM, Kubler W. Heart failure: is there an energy deficit contributing to contractile dysfunction? *Basic research in cardiology*. 1998;93(1):1-10.
- **31.** Ingwall JS KM, Fifer MA, Lorell BH, Shemin R, and Grossman Allen PD. The creatine kinase system in normal and diseased human myocrdium. *N Engl J Med.* 1985;313(17):1050-1054.
- **32.** Neubauer S KT, Schindler R, Horn M, Hillenbrand H, Entzero Mader H, Kromer EP, Riegger GA, Lackner K, et al. 31P magnetic resonance spetroscopy in dilated cardiomyopathy and coronary artery disease. Altered cardiac high-energy phosphate metabolism in heart failure. *Circulation.* 1992;86(1810-1818).
- **33.** Shen W, Asai, K., Uechi, M., Mathier, M.A., Shannon, R.P., Vatner, S.F., and Ingwall, J.S. Progressive Loss of Myocardial ATP Due to a loss of total Purines During the Development of Heart Failure in Dogs. *Circulation*. 1999;100:2113-2118.
- **34.** Nascimben L, Ingwall, J.S., Pauletto, P., FRiedrich, J., Gwathmey, J.K., Saks, V., Cesare Pessina, A., and Allen, P.D. Creatine Kinase System in Failing and nonfailing Human Myocardium. *Circulation*. 1996;94:1894-1901.
- **35.** Tian R, Nascimben, L., Kaddurah-Daouk, R., and Ingwall, J.S. Depletion of Energy Reserve via the Creatine Kinase Reaction During the Evolution of Heart failure in Cardiomyopathic Hamsters. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* 1996;28:755-765.
- **36.** Schulze A, Hess T, Wevers R, Mayatepek E, Bachert P, Marescau B, Knopp MV, De Deyn PP, Bremer HJ, Rating D. Creatine deficiency syndrome caused by guanidinoacetate methyltransferase deficiency: diagnostic tools for a new inborn error of metabolism. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 1997;131(4):626-631.
- **37.** Nascimben L FJ, Liao R, Pauletto P, Pessina AC, and Ingwall JS. Enalapril treatment increases cardiac performance and energy reservevia the creatie kinase reactio in myocardium of Syrian myopathic hamsters with advanced heart failure. *Circulation*. 1995;91(1824-1833).
- **38.** Liu J, Wang C, Murakami Y, Gong G, Ishibashi Y, Prody C, Ochiai K, Bache RJ, Godinot C, Zhang J. Mitochondrial ATPase and high-energy phosphates in failing hearts. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2001;281(3):H1319-1326.
- **39.** Beer M, Seyfarth T, Sandstede J, Landschutz W, Lipke C, Kostler H, von Kienlin M, Harre K, Hahn D, Neubauer S. Absolute concentrations of high-energy phosphate metabolites in normal, hypertrophied, and failing human myocardium measured noninvasively with (31)P-SLOOP magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2002;40(7):1267-1274.
- **40.** Zhang J, and Bache, R.J. The molecular Energetics of the Failing Heart from Animal Models-Large Animal Models. *Heart Failure Reviews*. 1999;4:255-267.
- **41.** Murray AJ, Lygate CA, Cole MA, Carr CA, Radda GK, Neubauer S, Clarke K. Insulin resistance, abnormal energy metabolism and increased ischemic damage in the chronically infarcted rat heart. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2006;71(1):149-157.
- **42.** Starling RC, Hammer DF, Altschuld RA. Human myocardial ATP content and in vivo contractile function. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 1998;180(1-2):171-177.

- **43.** Beer M. SJ, Landshütz W., Viehrig M., Harre K., Horn M., Meininger M., pabst T., kenn W., Haase A., von Kienlin M., Neubauer S., and Hahn D. Altered energy metabolism after myocardial infarction assessed by 31P-MR-spectroscopy in humans. *Eur. radiol.* 2000;10(1323-1328).
- **44.** Fossel ET, Morgan HE, Ingwall JS. Measurement of changes in high-energy phosphates in the cardiac cycle using gated 31P nuclear magnetic renonance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1980;77(6):3654-3658.
- **45.** Ingwall JS. The hypertrophied myocardium accumulates the MB-creatine kinase isozyme. *European heart journal.* 1984;5 Suppl F:129-139.
- **46.** Bottomley PA, Weiss RG. Non-invasive magnetic-resonance detection of creatine depletion in non-viable infarcted myocardium. *Lancet*. 1998;351(9104):714-718.
- **47.** Ten Hove M, Chan S, Lygate C, Monfared M, Boehm E, Hulbert K, Watkins H, Clarke K, Neubauer S. Mechanisms of creatine depletion in chronically failing rat heart. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* 2005;38(2):309-313.
- **48.** Wallis J, Lygate CA, Fischer A, ten Hove M, Schneider JE, Sebag-Montefiore L, Dawson D, Hulbert K, Zhang W, Zhang MH, Watkins H, Clarke K, Neubauer S. Supranormal myocardial creatine and phosphocreatine concentrations lead to cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure: insights from creatine transporter-overexpressing transgenic mice. *Circulation*. 2005;112(20):3131-3139.
- **49.** ten Hove M, Lygate CA, Fischer A, Schneider JE, Sang AE, Hulbert K, Sebag-Montefiore L, Watkins H, Clarke K, Isbrandt D, Wallis J, Neubauer S. Reduced inotropic reserve and increased susceptibility to cardiac ischemia/reperfusion injury in phosphocreatine-deficient guanidinoacetate-N-methyltransferase-knockout mice. *Circulation*. 2005;111(19):2477-2485.
- **50.** Ingwall JS, Weiss RG. Is the failing heart energy starved? On using chemical energy to support cardiac function. *Circ Res.* 2004;95(2):135-145.
- **51.** Ingwall JS. On the hypothesis that the failing heart is energy starved: lessons learned from the metabolism of ATP and creatine. *Current hypertension reports*. 2006;8(6):457-464.
- **52.** Nakae I, Mitsunami K, Matsuo S, Matsumoto T, Morikawa S, Inubushi T, Koh T, Horie M. Assessment of myocardial creatine concentration in dysfunctional human heart by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Magn Reson Med Sci.* 2004;3(1):19-25.
- **53.** Neubauer S, Frank M, Hu K, Remkes H, Laser A, Horn M, Ertl G, Lohse MJ. Changes of creatine kinase gene expression in rat heart post-myocardial infarction. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1998;30(4):803-810.
- **54.** Smith CS, Bottomley PA, Schulman SP, Gerstenblith G, Weiss RG. Altered creatine kinase adenosine triphosphate kinetics in failing hypertrophied human myocardium. *Circulation*. 2006;114(11):1151-1158.
- **55.** Neubauer S, Hu, K., Horn, M., Remkes, H., Hoffmann, K.D., Schmidt, C., Schmidt, T.J., Schnackerz, K., and Ertl, G. Functional and Energetic Consequences of Chronic Myocardial Creatine Depletion by B-Guanidinopropionate in Perfused Hearts and in Intact Rats. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* 1999;31:1845-1855.
- **56.** Horn M, Remkes, H., Strömer, H., Dienesch, C., and Neubauer, S. Chronic phosphocreatine Depletion by the Creatine Analogue Beta-guanidinopropionate Is Associated With Increased Mortality and loss of ATP in Rats After Myocardial Infarction. *Circulation*. 2001;104:1844-1849.
- **57.** Kapelko VI, Kupriyanov VV, Novikova NA, Lakomkin VL, Steinschneider A, Severina M, Veksler VI, Saks VA. The cardiac contractile failure induced by chronic creatine and phosphocreatine deficiency. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1988;20(6):465-479.
- **58.** Nahrendorf M, Spindler M, Hu K, Bauer L, Ritter O, Nordbeck P, Quaschning T, Hiller KH, Wallis J, Ertl G, Bauer WR, Neubauer S. Creatine kinase knockout mice show left ventricular hypertrophy and dilatation, but unaltered remodeling post-myocardial infarction. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2005;65(2):419-427.
- **59.** Saupe KW, Spindler, M., Hopkins, J.C.A., Shen, W., and Ingwall, J.S. Kinetic, Thermodynamic, and Developmental Consequences of Deleting Creatine Kinase Isoenzymes from the Heart. 2000;275:19742-19746.

- **60.** Spindler M, Meyer K, Stromer H, Leupold A, Boehm E, Wagner H, Neubauer S. Creatine kinase-deficient hearts exhibit increased susceptibility to ischemia-reperfusion injury and impaired calcium homeostasis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2004;287(3):H1039-1045.
- **61.** Mekhfi H. HJ, Lauer C., Wisnesky C., Schwartz K., and Ventura-Clapier R. Myocardial adaption to creatine defiency in rats fed with B-guanidinopropionic acid, a creatine analogue. *American Journal of Physiology*. 1990;258(April (4 Pt 2)):H1151-1158.
- **62.** Fitch CD, Shields RP, Payne WF, Dacus JM. Creatine metabolism in skeletal muscle. 3. Specificity of the creatine entry process. *J Biol Chem.* 1968;243(8):2024-2027.
- **63.** Guimbal C, Kilimann MW. A Na(+)-dependent creatine transporter in rabbit brain, muscle, heart, and kidney. cDNA cloning and functional expression. *J Biol Chem.* 1993;268(12):8418-8421.
- **64.** Chevli R, Fitch CD. beta-Guanidinopropionate and phosphorylated beta-guanidinopropionate as substrates for creatine kinase. *Biochemical medicine*. 1979;21(2):162-167.
- **65.** LaBella JJ, Daood MJ, Koretsky AP, Roman BB, Sieck GC, Wieringa B, Watchko JF. Absence of myofibrillar creatine kinase and diaphragm isometric function during repetitive activation. *J Appl Physiol.* 1998;84(4):1166-1173.
- 66. Steeghs K, Oerlemans F, de Haan A, Heerschap A, Verdoodt L, de Bie M, Ruitenbeek W, Benders A, Jost C, van Deursen J, Tullson P, Terjung R, Jap P, Jacob W, Pette D, Wieringa B. Cytoarchitectural and metabolic adaptations in muscles with mitochondrial and cytosolic creatine kinase deficiencies. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 1998;184(1-2):183-194.
- **67.** Tullson PC, Rush JW, Wieringa B, Terjung RL. Alterations in AMP deaminase activity and kinetics in skeletal muscle of creatine kinase-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol.* 1998;274(5 Pt 1):C1411-1416.
- **68.** Schmidt A, Marescau B, Boehm EA, Renema WK, Peco R, Das A, Steinfeld R, Chan S, Wallis J, Davidoff M, Ullrich K, Waldschutz R, Heerschap A, De Deyn PP, Neubauer S, Isbrandt D. Severely altered guanidino compound levels, disturbed body weight homeostasis and impaired fertility in a mouse model of guanidinoacetate N-methyltransferase (GAMT) deficiency. *Human molecular genetics*. 2004;13(9):905-921.
- **69.** Nielsen LB, Veniant M, Boren J, Raabe M, Wong JS, Tam C, Flynn L, Vanni-Reyes T, Gunn MD, Goldberg IJ, Hamilton RL, Young SG. Genes for apolipoprotein B and microsomal triglyceride transfer protein are expressed in the heart: evidence that the heart has the capacity to synthesize and secrete lipoproteins. *Circulation*. 1998;98(1):13-16.
- **70.** Boren J, Veniant MM, Young SG. Apo B100-containing lipoproteins are secreted by the heart. *J Clin Invest*. 1998;101(6):1197-1202.
- 71. Chiu HC, Kovacs A, Ford DA, Hsu FF, Garcia R, Herrero P, Saffitz JE, Schaffer JE. A novel mouse model of lipotoxic cardiomyopathy. *J Clin Invest.* 2001;107(7):813-822.
- 72. Zhou YT, Grayburn P, Karim A, Shimabukuro M, Higa M, Baetens D, Orci L, Unger RH. Lipotoxic heart disease in obese rats: implications for human obesity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2000;97(4):1784-1789.
- **73.** Listenberger LL, Ory DS, Schaffer JE. Palmitate-induced apoptosis can occur through a ceramide-independent pathway. *J Biol Chem.* 2001;276(18):14890-14895.
- 74. Sharma S, Adrogue JV, Golfman L, Uray I, Lemm J, Youker K, Noon GP, Frazier OH, Taegtmeyer H. Intramyocardial lipid accumulation in the failing human heart resembles the lipotoxic rat heart. *Faseb J*. 2004;18(14):1692-1700.
- **75.** Pfeffer MA, Pfeffer JM, Fishbein MC, Fletcher PJ, Spadaro J, Kloner RA, Braunwald E. Myocardial infarct size and ventricular function in rats. *Circ Res.* 1979;44(4):503-512.
- 76. Anversa P, Beghi C, Kikkawa Y, Olivetti G. Myocardial infarction in rats. Infarct size, myocyte hypertrophy, and capillary growth. *Circ Res.* 1986;58(1):26-37.
- 77. Omerovic E, Basetti M, Bollano E, Bohlooly M, Tornell J, Isgaard J, Hjalmarson A, Soussi B, Waagstein F. In Vivo Metabolic Imaging of Cardiac Bioenergetics in Transgenic Mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2000;271(1):222-228.
- **78.** Omerovic E, Bollano E, Madhu B, Kujacic V, Waagstein L, Hjalmarson A, Waagstein F, Soussi B. Bioenergetic, functional and morphologic consequences of postinfarct cardiac remodeling in the rat. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*. 1999;31(9):1685-1695.

- **79.** Williams GD, Mosher TJ, Smith MB. Simultaneous determination of intracellular magnesium and pH from the three 31P NMR Chemical shifts of ATP. *Anal Biochem.* 1993;214(2):458-467.
- **80.** Clarke K, Kashiwaya Y, King MT, Gates D, Keon CA, Cross HR, Radda GK, Veech RL. The beta/alpha peak height ratio of ATP. A measure of free [Mg2+] using 31P NMR. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271(35):21142-21150.
- **81.** Zahler R, Ingwall JS. Estimation of heart mitochondrial creatine kinase flux using magnetization transfer NMR spectroscopy. *Am. J. Physiol.* 1992;262:H1022-H1028.
- **82.** Bittl JA, Ingwall JS. Reaction rates of creatine kinase and ATP synthesis in the isolated rat heart. A 31P NMR magnetization transfer study. *J. Biol. Chem. [0021-9258]*. 1985;260:3512-3517.
- **83.** Bittl JA, DeLayre J, Ingwall JS. Rate equation for creatine kinase predicts the in vivo reaction velocity: 31P NMR surface coil studies in brain, heart, and skeletal muscle of the living rat. *Biochemistry [0006-2960]*. 1987;26:6083-6090.
- **84.** Bottomley PA. MR spectroscopy of the human heart: the status and the challenges. *Radiology*. 1994;191:593-612.
- **85.** Jung WI, Dietze GJ. 31P nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy: a noninvasive tool to monitor metabolic abnormalities in left ventricular hypertrophy in human. *Am J Cardiol*. 1999;83(12A):19H-24H.
- **86.** Seymour AM. Evaluation of myocardial energy status in vivo by NMR spectroscopy. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 1993;88:385-395.
- **87.** Bollano E, Waagstein F, Omerovic E. Stress echocardiography using transesophageal atrial pacing in rats. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr.* 2003;16(4):326-332.
- **88.** Clarke K, O'Connor AJ, Willis RJ. Temporal relation between energy metabolism and myocardial function during ischemia and reperfusion. *Am J Physiol.* 1987;253(2 Pt 2):H412-421.
- **89.** Neubauer S. High-Energy Phosphate Metabolism in Normal, Hypertrphied and Failing Human Myocardium. *Heart Failure Reviews*. 1999;4:269-280.
- **90.** Pfeffer MA, Pfeffer JM, Fishbein MC, Fletcher PJ, Spadaro J, Kloner RA, Braunwald E. Myocardial infarct size and ventricular function in rats. *Circ. Res.* 1979;44:503-512.
- **91.** Spadaro J, Fishbein MC, Hare C, Pfeffer MA, Maroko PR. Characterization of myocardial infarcts in the rat. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med.* 1980;104:179-183.
- **92.** Pfeffer MA, Pfeffer JM. Ventricular enlargement following a myocardial infarction. *J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol.* 1987;9 Suppl 2:S18-S20.
- **93.** Burrell LM, Chan R, Phillips PA, Calafiore P, Tonkin AM, Johnston CI. Validation of an echocardiographic assessment of cardiac function following moderate size myocardial infarction in the rat. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 1996;23:570-572.
- **94.** Fishbein MC, Maclean D, Maroko PR. Experimental myocardial infarction in the rat: qualitative and quantitative changes during pathologic evolution. *Am. J. Pathol.* 1978;90:57-70.
- **95.** Pfeffer JM, Pfeffer MA, Fletcher PJ, Braunwald E. Ventricular performance in rats with myocardial infarction and failure. *Am. J. Med.* 1984;76:99-103.
- **96.** Baumans V. Use of animals in experimental research: an ethical dilemma? *Gene Ther*. 2004;11 Suppl 1:S64-66.
- **97.** Rusche B. The 3Rs and animal welfare conflict or the way forward? *Altex.* 2003;20(Suppl 1):63-76.
- **98.** Horn M, Frantz, S., Remkes, H., Laser, A., Urban, B., Mettenleiter, A., Schnakerz, K., and Neubauer, S. Effects of Chronic Dietary Creatine Feeding on Cardiac Energy Metabolism and on Creatine Content in Heart, Skeletal Muscle, Brain, Liver and Kidney. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1997;30:277-284.
- **99.** Ingwall JS. Creatine and the control of muscle-specific protein synthesis in cardiac and skeletal muscle. *Circ Res.* 1976;38(5 Suppl 1):I115-123.

- **100.** Goldman S, Johnson G, Cohn JN, Cintron G, Smith R, Francis G. Mechanism of death in heart failure. The Vasodilator-Heart Failure Trials. The V-HeFT VA Cooperative Studies Group. *Circulation*. 1993;87(6 Suppl):VI24-31.
- **101.** Solomon SD, Zelenkofske S, McMurray JJ, Finn PV, Velazquez E, Ertl G, Harsanyi A, Rouleau JL, Maggioni A, Kober L, White H, Van de Werf F, Pieper K, Califf RM, Pfeffer MA. Sudden death in patients with myocardial infarction and left ventricular dysfunction, heart failure, or both. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352(25):2581-2588.
- 102. Abraham MR, Selivanov VA, Hodgson DM, Pucar D, Zingman LV, Wieringa B, Dzeja PP, Alekseev AE, Terzic A. Coupling of cell energetics with membrane metabolic sensing. Integrative signaling through creatine kinase phosphotransfer disrupted by M-CK gene knock-out. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(27):24427-24434.
- **103.** Mihm MJ, Yu F, Carnes CA, Reiser PJ, McCarthy PM, Van Wagoner DR, Bauer JA. Impaired myofibrillar energetics and oxidative injury during human atrial fibrillation. *Circulation*. 2001;104(2):174-180.
- **104.** Kahan T, Bergfeldt L. Left ventricular hypertrophy in hypertension: its arrhythmogenic potential. *Heart.* 2005;91(2):250-256.
- **105.** Ravingerova T, Neckar J, Kolar F, Stetka R, Volkovova K, Ziegelhoffer A, Styk J. Ventricular arrhythmias following coronary artery occlusion in rats: is the diabetic heart less or more sensitive to ischaemia? *Basic research in cardiology*. 2001;96(2):160-168.
- **106.** Clark JF, Khuchua Z, Kuznetsov AV, Vassil'eva E, Boehm E, Radda GK, Saks V. Actions of the creatine analogue beta-guanidinopropionic acid on rat heart mitochondria. *The Biochemical journal*. 1994;300 (Pt 1):211-216.
- **107.** Yokoyama M, Yagyu H, Hu Y, Seo T, Hirata K, Homma S, Goldberg IJ. Apolipoprotein B production reduces lipotoxic cardiomyopathy: studies in heart-specific lipoprotein lipase transgenic mouse. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(6):4204-4211.
- **108.** Nielsen LB. Lipoprotein production by the heart: a novel pathway of triglyceride export from cardiomyocytes. *Scandinavian journal of clinical and laboratory investigation*. 2002;237:35-40.
- **109.** Bilheimer DW, Buja LM, Parkey RW, Bonte FJ, Willerson JT. Fatty acid accumulation and abnormal lipid deposition in peripheral and border zones of experimental myocardial infarcts. *J Nucl Med.* 1978;19(3):276-283.
- **110.** Dobson GP, Headrick JP. Bioenergetic scaling: metabolic design and body-size constraints in mammals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1995;92(16):7317-7321.
- **111.** Loiselle DS, Gibbs CL. Species differences in cardiac energetics. *Am J Physiol.* 1979;237(1):H90-98.
- **112.** Mancuso DJ, Abendschein DR, Jenkins CM, Han X, Saffitz JE, Schuessler RB, Gross RW. Cardiac ischemia activates calcium-independent phospholipase A2beta, precipitating ventricular tachyarrhythmias in transgenic mice: rescue of the lethal electrophysiologic phenotype by mechanism-based inhibition. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(25):22231-22236.
- **113.** Curtis MJ, Pugsley MK, Walker MJ. Endogenous chemical mediators of ventricular arrhythmias in ischaemic heart disease. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1993;27(5):703-719.
- **114.** van der Vusse GJ, Glatz JF, Stam HC, Reneman RS. Fatty acid homeostasis in the normoxic and ischemic heart. *Physiol Rev.* 1992;72(4):881-940.
- **115.** Corr PB, Yamada KA, Creer MH, Sharma AD, Sobel BE. Lysophosphoglycerides and ventricular fibrillation early after onset of ischemia. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 1987;19 Suppl 5:45-53.
- **116.** London B. Cardiac arrhythmias: from (transgenic) mice to men. *Journal of cardiovascular electrophysiology*. 2001;12(9):1089-1091.
- **117.** Wit AL, Janse MJ. Experimental models of ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation caused by ischemia and infarction. *Circulation*. 1992;85(1 Suppl):I32-42.
- **118.** Maguire CT, Wakimoto H, Patel VV, Hammer PE, Gauvreau K, Berul CI. Implications of ventricular arrhythmia vulnerability during murine electrophysiology studies. *Physiological genomics.* 2003;15(1):84-91.

- **119.** Sambandam N, Lopaschuk GD, Brownsey RW, Allard MF. Energy metabolism in the hypertrophied heart. *Heart Fail Rev.* 2002;7(2):161-173.
- **120.** Stanley WC, Recchia FA, Lopaschuk GD. Myocardial substrate metabolism in the normal and failing heart. *Physiol Rev.* 2005;85(3):1093-1129.
- **121.** Sack MN, Kelly DP. The energy substrate switch during development of heart failure: gene regulatory mechanisms (Review). *International journal of molecular medicine*. 1998;1(1):17-24.
- **122.** Avramoglu RK, Adeli K. Hepatic regulation of apolipoprotein B. *Reviews in endocrine & metabolic disorders.* 2004;5(4):293-301.
- **123.** Rosenoff SH, Olson HM, Young DM, Bostick F, Young RC. Adriamycin-induced cardiac damage in the mouse: a small-animal model of cardiotoxicity. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1975;55(1):191-194.
- **124.** Li L, Takemura G, Li Y, Miyata S, Esaki M, Okada H, Kanamori H, Khai NC, Maruyama R, Ogino A, Minatoguchi S, Fujiwara T, Fujiwara H. Preventive Effect of Erythropoietin on Cardiac Dysfunction in Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiomyopathy. *Circulation*. 2006;113(4):535-543.
- **125.** Singal P, Li T, Kumar D, Danelisen I, Iliskovic N. Adriamycin-induced heart failure: mechanisms and modulation. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*. Vol 207; 2000:77-86.
- **126.** Tokarska-Schlattner M, Zaugg M, Zuppinger C, Wallimann T, Schlattner U. New insights into doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity: The critical role of cellular energetics. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*. In Press, Corrected Proof.
- 127. Lipshultz SE, Rifai N, Dalton VM, Levy DE, Silverman LB, Lipsitz SR, Colan SD, Asselin BL, Barr RD, Clavell LA, Hurwitz CA, Moghrabi A, Samson Y, Schorin MA, Gelber RD, Sallan SE. The effect of dexrazoxane on myocardial injury in doxorubicin-treated children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2004;351(2):145-153.
- **128.** Hequet O, Le QH, Moullet I, Pauli E, Salles G, Espinouse D, Dumontet C, Thieblemont C, Arnaud P, Antal D, Bouafia F, Coiffier B. Subclinical late cardiomyopathy after doxorubicin therapy for lymphoma in adults. *J Clin Oncol.* 2004;22(10):1864-1871.
- **129.** Verduyn SC, Ramakers C, Snoep G, Leunissen JD, Wellens HJ, Vos MA. Time course of structural adaptations in chronic AV block dogs: evidence for differential ventricular remodeling. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2001;280(6):H2882-2890.
- **130.** Kenny JE, Berberian G, Rabkin DG, Cabreriza SE, Quinn TA, Curtis LJ, Spotnitz HM. Ethanol induction of complete heart block in swine. *The Journal of surgical research*. 2006;132(1):142-146.
- **131.** Lee RJ, Sievers RE, Gallinghouse GJ, Ursell PC. Development of a model of complete heart block in rats. *J Appl Physiol*. 1998;85(2):758-763.
- **132.** Suto F, Cahill SA, Wilson GJ, Hamilton RM, Greenwald I, Gross GJ. A novel rabbit model of variably compensated complete heart block. *J Appl Physiol.* 2002;92(3):1199-1204.
- **133.** Endoh M. Force-frequency relationship in intact mammalian ventricular myocardium: physiological and pathophysiological relevance. *European journal of pharmacology*. 2004;500(1-3):73-86.
- **134.** Palomeque J, Vila Petroff MG, Mattiazzi A. Pacing staircase phenomenon in the heart: from Bodwitch to the XXI century. *Heart, lung & circulation.* 2004;13(4):410-420.
- **135.** Abergel E, Chatellier G, Hagege AA, Oblak A, Linhart A, Ducardonnet A, Menard J. Serial left ventricular adaptations in world-class professional cyclists: implications for disease screening and follow-up. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2004;44(1):144-149.
- **136.** Colan SD, Sanders SP, Borow KM. Physiologic hypertrophy: effects on left ventricular systolic mechanics in athletes. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1987;9(4):776-783.
- **137.** Conway MA, Bottomley PA, Ouwerkerk R, Radda GK, Rajagopalan B. Mitral regurgitation: impaired systolic function, eccentric hypertrophy, and increased severity are linked to lower phosphocreatine/ATP ratios in humans. *Circulation*. 1998;97(17):1716-1723.

- **138.** Zhang J, Toher C, Erhard M, Zhang Y, Ugurbil K, Bache RJ, Lange T, Homans DC. Relationships between myocardial bioenergetic and left ventricular function in hearts with volume-overload hypertrophy. *Circulation*. 1997;96(1):334-343.
- **139.** Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E. Ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction. Experimental observations and clinical implications. *Circulation*. 1990;81:1161-1172.
- **140.** Braunwald E, Pfeffer MA. Ventricular enlargement and remodeling following acute myocardial infarction: mechanisms and management. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 1991;68:1.
- **141.** Brown Jr EJ, Pfeffer MA. Ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction: a modifiable process. *Heart Dis Stroke*. 1994;3:164-168.
- **142.** de Groot SH, Schoenmakers M, Molenschot MM, Leunissen JD, Wellens HJ, Vos MA. Contractile adaptations preserving cardiac output predispose the hypertrophied canine heart to delayed afterdepolarization-dependent ventricular arrhythmias. *Circulation*. 2000;102(17):2145-2151.